

Paul

Frank A. Nemec, Jr.

Table of Contents

General Material	2
Disclaimers	
Key Challenges.	
Class Preparation	4
Guiding Questions	4
Key Reference Material	5
Evidence	5
Literary Genre	6
Authorship and Dating	6
Estimated Chronology	7
Audience Reception	7
Authority of Paul	8
Epistemology of Paul	8
Gnosticism and Paul	8
Conversion	9
Undisputed Pauline Epistles	10
1 Thessalonians	10
Philemon	10
Romans	10
Salvation	11
Common Morality	11
Deutero-Pauline Epistles	13
Ephesians	13
Colossians	14
2 Thessalonians	14
Pastoral Epistles	14
Titus	14
2 Timothy	14
1 Timothy	14
Residue	14
References	14

General Material

These notes provide the framework for a class on the ideas of Paul as recorded in the Pauline epistles of the Bible, and in the context of its peers, and as matched with history. The class is a continuation of a History of Israel class originally held Sunday evenings 6:30-8pm in room 3191 at Valley Church, Cupertino, California, then continuing via Google Meet during and after the COVID-19 pandemic.

The latest version of these notes is always available on the web page for this class: http://www.nemecfamily.net/fan/writing/Paul/

This class explores the ideas of Paul, with special attention to how and why they differed from ancient Judaism, Second Temple Judaism, other Christianities, and other religious thought of the region and time, as well as ideas of proto-orthodox Christianity which developed later and can't credibly be traced back to Paul, Paul's time, or an earlier time. Paul's are the earliest known Christian writings which survive today. It's our **only primary source** for his subset of ideas of earliest Christianity. The intent is to learn the ideas of Paul from the writings of Paul, not from writings by others attributed to him, or from the writings of others talking about him.

The class covers the New Testament books in (as best we can tell) the order in which they were written, starting with the undisputed Pauline epistles (Romans, 1 Corinthians, 2 Corinthians, Galatians, Philippians, 1 Thessalonians, Philemon). It might next cover the "Deutero-Pauline" epistles (2 Thessalonians, Colossians, Ephesians, authored perhaps by students or followers of Paul), then the pastoral epistles. Note the focus on the ideas, rather than the actions, of Paul. We have no corroboration of Paul in the historical record, or of Saul in the Jewish religious record. The objective of the class is to read them and understand them, not to read into them.

Most of these were 'occasional' letters, written on a specific occasion to address a specific set of problems or issues in a specific local assembly. But they are all that survive of Paul's writings. The ideas of Paul appear (anachronistically) in the synoptic gospels, since all the gospels were written after Paul's writings were complete. They appear prominently in John, written even later.

Disclaimers

I accepted the role of leader or facilitator of this class and its predecessor by request of the people attending this Sunday evening Bible study. I intend to encourage attention to certain questions and issues, as can be seen by the rest of this syllabus. I intend to offer some of my ideas on these and related subjects. I do not speak as a teacher or other official of Valley Church. The ideas are mine, not those of Valley Church, its elders, pastors, or staff. This is not an official Discipleship Elective of Valley Church. The first item in the doctrinal statement of Valley Church reads, "We believe in the Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments as being inspired by God and completely inerrant in the original writings and of supreme and final authority in faith and life." This encapsulates a Fundamentalist position. Mine is Conservative, but not Fundamentalist. I discuss this in my notes on the gospels. I neither insist nor expect that people agree with me on this or any other opinion I have or express.

When I express a view about biblical scholarship in class, unless I say otherwise, it is generally a consensus or a broadly held view among modern biblical textual scholars (not theologians), and of scholars of the history and religions of the Ancient Near East.

I say so when I express an idea that is my own. But because of my memory problems, I may forget that I've read it somewhere. Significant ideas in my written notes are nearly always annotated with their source.

Key Challenges

Understanding Paul (and other NT texts) faces two primary challenges.

First, few people today possess the required background of a thorough understanding of Greek philosophical thought (especially religious) in the Roman Empire of the first century CE. Those who have even heard of Gnosticism and the mystery religions possess only a crude caricature of them. The canonical NT gospels also require some understanding of the ideas and practices of Second Temple Judaism, since that's their setting. Understanding the ideas of Hillel and Shammai goes a long way to understanding the issues they discussed and debated. Paul uses words and phrases which would have been readily recognized by his direct audience, but which leave modern readers scratching their heads.

Second, the minds of people familiar with modern Christianity are poisoned by those ideas. Those are the ideas they want Paul to say. It's surprisingly challenging to discern ideas Paul actually expressed, without jumping to the conclusion that he must have meant what I understand as orthodox Christian doctrine. Readers are also contaminated by the words of other NT authors. That's why I often pose a question about a text often used as a prooftext. Did Paul really hold this idea?

Class Preparation

The best preparation for the class is to read all these texts more than once in rough chronological order. Be prepared to take notes. First, note rabbit trails you'd like to take, so you can take them later, without distracting from just reading the texts. Second, record thoughts raised by consideration of the guiding questions.

The overriding objective is to discern the ideas of Paul. What was he thinking? Base this only on our only primary source, his undisputed writings. Not on what later people said. Those later ideas should be viewed in comparison and contrast with those of Paul.

Guiding Questions

- 1. Note each idea new with Christianity.
 - a) Is this idea found in the gospels? How?
 - b) Is the idea at home in Jewish thought? Greek thought?
 - c) Does Paul identify the source of the idea? Note each case where you think he might.
- 2. Create and maintain a journal of ideas of Christianity which are NOT credibly found in the writings of Paul.
- 3. What does Paul say about Jesus?
 - a) Was he human? Divine? Both?
 - b) Where does Paul cite anything Jesus said or did during his lifetime besides die?
 - c) Does Paul even think Christ was ever on Earth?
- 4. Identify each idea and person Paul disagrees with.
 - a) How does he handle this?
 - b) What evidence does Paul present for his side of each issue?
 - c) Does Paul say enough for us to identify the competing person or idea?
- 5. Identify each behavior Paul doesn't like.

- a) Does he offer a basis for not liking it? Does he cite Torah?
- b) Does he cite any Christian basis for his preference?
- c) Does he default to common morality?
- 6. Is this something Paul might have said or taught? If not, how does it differ from Pauline teachings? This question is most suitable for the deutero-Pauline epistles and the pastoral epistles.
- 7. Are Paul's writings sufficient to understand his beliefs in detail? Do we have enough of his writings to understand the meanings he attaches to the words and phrases he uses? Can we safely create doctrine based on his comments incidental to his primary message in each text?
- 8. What ideas does Paul NOT talk about? I think the most notable one is the idea of the **universal sacrifice**. I think he doesn't talk about it because he didn't need to. It was a concept everyone understood and agreed on, even if they didn't believe it. It's the foundation concept of Christianity.
- 9. Do Paul's writings provide evidence for any form of organizational leadership authority? Does he speak of roles we later came to call pastors or elders? If elders, are they any different from traditional tribal elders, wherein tribal patriarchs tend to have civil authority over affairs of the tribes?

Key Reference Material

The first three references combine to offer a good variety of views from different perspectives. In most cases, Dr. Ehrman presents consensus views from scholarship with the historical critical perspective. Dr. Johnson holds the minority view that all the New Testament texts claiming Pauline authorship were written by Paul using an amanuensis for all but tiny snippets. But then he admits that it's hard to discern Paul's position on may topics. I think he has ruled out a key part of the answer: Not all of the texts were written by Paul. Dr. Johnson does bring some clarity by showing how Paul's writings follow the practices of Greek rhetoric, less familiar today.

Both suffer the bias of the Eusebian view that Christianity began as a variant of Judaism. Walter Bauer began the shift away from that view. For reasons I discuss elsewhere, I think Christianity began in the greater Roman Empire, outside of Judea, in Greek religious thought, and particularly the Greek mystery religions. Dr. Johnson at least mentions them.

Evidence

Hearsay evidence is evidence from someone who was not an eyewitness. Eyewitness testimony is "I saw Fred shoot Charlie." Hearsay evidence is "Louise told me that Fred shot Charlie." In a court of law, hearsay is unacceptable for determining fact. In history, is is also unacceptable for determining fact, but it is very useful for determining what someone at the time believed.

The first part of this study will be constrained to eyewitness testimony. For that, the only primary source we have is the undisputed writings of Paul. Using only those, "Paul said" is appropriate. For the second part, "The author of Colossians, writing in the name of Paul, said" is appropriate. For Acts, "The anonymous author of Acts, writing at least two decades after Paul died, said that Paul said/did" is appropriate.

That needs some refinement. Paul never presents or claims eyewitness testimony to any event. But he does express ideas. Thus our strongest claims are of the form "Paul expressed the idea that ..." Sometimes it's challenging to understand the idea just from Paul's writings. He often uses language and phrases whose meaning is unclear without a broader body of Paul's writings using the phrases, or without a body of peer writings to define the meaning a phrase had at that time. An example is 'in Christ' from Romans 8:1 etc.

Literary Genre

Paul writes in the tradition of ancient Greek rhetoric. That explains things we today find strange. Paul can flash from glowing praise to scathing condemnation with no transition. Paul writes in character, using styles and masks. He writes to convey a message, not to show what he is like personally. 2 Corinthians lacks the overall organization one would expect from this genre, leading many scholars to conclude it is a collection of smaller letters or excerpts. Ephesians (deutero-Pauline) seems to be a circular letter, intended to be passed among several churches. If Pauline, it's likely from late in his life, with an established reputation. (Johnson, lecture 10) "2 Timothy has the form of a personal paraenetic letter (a letter of advice) with elements of protreptic exhortation. This literary form was available to Paul.1 Timothy and Titus are perfect examples of mandata principis letters, known from the third century BCE and used to instruct delegates who represented a ruler in a particular region." (Johnson, lecture 11).

Authorship and Dating

I cite Bart Ehrman for his representation of the consensus of modern biblical textual scholarship, making use of all relevant texts discovered to date. That includes the body of New Testament texts and fragments, early translations of those texts, early writings quoting those texts, and peer writings of the era, showing what people thought and how they used words and phrases. I cite Emory University Professor Luke Timothy Johnson (see reference) for the best researched and presented, and most plausible, argument for Pauline authorship of more of the texts. The consensus:

Undisputed Pauline epistles

- Romans
- 1 Corinthians
- 2 Corinthians
- Galatians
- Philippians
- 1 Thessalonians
- Philemon.

"Deutero-Pauline" epistles (likely by students of Paul, authorship debated)

- 2 Thessalonians
- Colossians
- Ephesians

Pastoral Epistles (pseudonymous)

• 1 Timothy

Paul, by Frank Nemec, page 6

- 2 Timothy
- Titus

The Deutero-Pauline epistles contain enough differences in style, vocabulary, and content that they were more likely written by students of Paul, probably after his death. I notice that we never see Paul in any way passing on his apostolic authority to anyone. Some posit that these could have been written under the direct supervision of Paul during his lifetime. That's not impossible, though we see no supporting evidence. It is plausible for even Paul to change his rhetorical style to match the need.

Commonalities in style, letter structure, and named people are used as evidence both for common authorship and for pseudepigraphical imitation or copying. If you're writing an epistle in the name of Paul, you'll tend to write in the style of Paul, and to copy identifying features such as names. Pseudepigrapha of that era very commonly included claims of "This is really me."

An epistle is a letter, writer conveying his ideas to a reader. By nature, it's a private, one-way channel. It excludes the ideas of the readers and everyone else. We see ideas of others only as Paul presents them, supports them, or criticizes a caricature of them.

I think the reason that we have so much trouble coming up with a coherent explanation of the ideas of Paul is that Paul doesn't have a coherent idea. People write to communicate their ideas. If Paul has a consistent one, he has failed at communicating it. If you can't handle cognitive dissonance, you don't have a chance at understanding Paul.

Estimated Chronology

See also https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dating the Bible#Table IV: New Testament. These dates are not at all definitive, but the order might still suggest trends.

Sorting Date			Canonio	cal
Date Rang	e Text	Author	Order	Why
51 50-54	1 Thessalonians	Paul		13
53 45-55	Galatians	Paul		9
54 53-57	1 Corinthians	Paul		7
55 53-57	2 Corinthians	Paul		8
56 60-63	Philemon	Paul		18 Or 62-63; Dewey places Philemon before Philippians
57 57-62	2 Philippians	Paul		11 Stephen L. Harris (62)
58 55-58	Romans	Paul		6

Audience Reception

I have only these starter notes from James Carvin, in response to my question, "Do you have a good reference for that transition in how Paul's letters were viewed?"

The basic problem is you are looking for something that is consistently absent. That is, any reference to Paul's writing being inerrant because God dictated it to him. What you have, instead, is people like Justin mentioning the "memoirs" of the apostles to Trypho in the mid second century. Polycarp quotes from Paul in writing to the Philippians as a way of showing

affinity rather than as a way of asserting Paul's authority. Ignatius of Antioch mentions Paul in only one of his letters.

Authority of Paul

Jesus would not have called him an apostle. In the gospel narratives, only Peter is shown graduating to the role of apostle. That was someone appointed by the master to carry on his teachings. Paul never met Jesus. Paul never carried on the teachings of Jesus. Paul was a self-appointed apostle, and that by the Christian rather than the Jewish definition. Paul claimed to have been a Pharisee, yet shows no evidence of that. Mishnah never mentions him. The Sanhedrin met in Jerusalem, nowhere near Tarsus. Since Paul never mentioned it, his name change from Saul was more likely legend / tradition than fact.

Paul does cite Torah (Deuteronomy 25:4) in 1 Corinthians 9:9 about muzzling the ox. I'll collect exceptions here as I find them. I was given a reference to Rosner, <u>Paul and The Law</u>. 1 Cor 15:21, "For as by a man came death, by a man has come also the resurrection of the dead. For as in Adam all die, so also in Christ shall all be made alive." -- Here, Paul makes a simple analogy between two men, Adam and Christ. It didn't require intensive Jewish education to know about the Hebrew story of Adam. There were also plenty of other protoplasts. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Protoplast_(religion)

Epistemology of Paul

The only place where Paul clearly cites a source for some of his information is in Galations 1:11-12, "For I would have you know, brothers, that the gospel that was preached by me is not man's gospel. For I did not receive it from any man, nor was I taught it, but I received it through a revelation of Jesus Christ." For this, he claims direct revelation.

Yet, in 1 Corinthians 15, he attributes this to the passing on of oral tradition. "I delivered to you as of first importance what I also received." That's what this phrase meant. Paul uses the same language in 1 Corinthians 11 about the rite of the eucharist.

In other places, Paul seems to be reciting an existing hymn or creed. One example is Philippians 2:5-11.

Nowhere else does Paul cite a source for any of his ideas. Therefore with rare exceptions, I will simply speak of an idea as Paul's idea because I am unable to discern whether he got the idea from someone else, created the idea himself, or claimed to receive the idea by miraculous revelation.

Gnosticism and Paul

If you don't understand the basics of Valentinian Gnosticism, you won't understand Paul. Valentinus lived ca 100-180 CE. He was a prominent early Christian Gnostic theologian and philosopher. The [proto-orthodox] Church Fathers declared Gnostic philosophy heresy during the second century. As was their practice, they worked diligently to destroy the writings of those who disagreed with them. Thus all we have left of his writings are snippets quoted by his opponents. This is also why we can't trace Gnostic ideas farther back in time. That means it's still uncertain whether its basic ideas began in Jewish thought, Christian thought, or more general Greek thought. For an overview, I suggest occasionally reading the Wikipedia articles on Gnosticism and on Valentinus.

While we lack primary sources for earliest Gnostic thought, we have good primary sources for the Gnosticism that coalesced as writings from later Gnostic theologians as well as documents from the Nag Hammadi library. These make it possible to build a coherent understanding of Gnostic philosophy as it was actually believed and discussed, compared to the strawman caricatures of its opponents. I prefer to learn what Democrats believe by hearing and reading what they say and watching what they do, as opposed to listening to the caricatures presented in Republican echo chambers.

For this class, I specifically recommend <u>The Gnostic Paul</u>, by Elaine Pagels. I'd like to give my extra copy to my students to share. I think I did.

Gnostic religious philosophical concepts were coalescing during the late first century CE. For the reasons I noted, we can't trace the ideas farther back in time. Part of the coalescence of Gnostic philosophy was broad familiarity and acceptance of terminology. Paul uses some of that terminology and expects his Greek audience to be familiar with it. Paul would use those terms with the meanings that his audience would understand. That's the essence of economy of expression. A few carefully chosen words and phrases convey ideas clearly to an audience already using them. A lot of details will vary, and different Gnostic sects argue them. The Pagels book reveals some of those nuances. The [later] Gnostic authors revere Paul and claim his letters as a primary source of Gnostic theology.

Conversion

Paul doesn't tell us about it, but the author of Acts does in chapter 9. So it's at best anonymous hearsay evidence. A Facebook post by Rosemary Lyndall-Wemm from 7/16/2013:

Neuro-scientists use Paul as an historical example of Temporal Lobe Epilepsy (TLE). His reported symptoms, across several biblical books, fit perfectly. That makes his "vision" on the Road to Damascus an epileptic "aura" that warns of an impending partial seizure. It is an Altered State of Consciousness that draws on features of the current environment and mixes them with material from the person's culture and personal history. In other words, these abnormal brain events use socially acquired material to weave a free-form hallucination.

The auras of TLE are often very profound, and frequently religiously orientated. The inter-ictal (between seizure) history of people with TLE is hyper-religiosity, serial conversions (often to completely contradictory religions) and hyper-graphia (a compulsion to write about their profound pre-ictal experiences).

Todd's paresis (TP) is a temporary regional loss of function in whatever region just experienced the seizure, and its manifestation depends on where the seizure was located. Loss of motor function is most common, and can range from weakness to full paralysis. About 6% of patients who had tonic-clonic seizures experienced TP afterward, with loss of motor function sometimes accompanied with temporary numbness, blindness, or deafness.

Undisputed Pauline Epistles

1 Thessalonians

This may be the earliest surviving Pauline writing. A key phrase to note is the Lord Jesus Christ $(\kappa\nu\rho l\dot{\psi} I\eta\sigma\sigma\tilde{\nu} X\rho\iota\sigma\tau\tilde{\psi})$. I think it's likely kurios (Lord) is not used the way modern Christians use the word. I suspect it's the more traditional meanings of a respected leader, a master, but probably not as a sovereign or emperor. The rest of the text seems consistent with a writing before the idea of Jesus as God. I take the simplest meaning of $X\rho\iota\sigma\tau\tilde{\psi}$ as anointed, set apart for a purpose, and sometimes as a reference to the role Paul believed that he played. Pay attention to Paul's references to Jesus to try to discern what Paul believed about him.

Philemon

Philemon is a letter of recommendation. Philemon and Colossians greet the same set of people in the same places. Paul doesn't challenge the legal right of Philemon to own a slave. Instead, Paul urges him to treat Onesimus as a fellow brother in Christ rather than as a slave.

Romans

Paul doesn't show evidence of knowing anything going on in the Roman church. That's why Romans isn't an occasional letter. He isn't trying to correct problems in an assembly because he doesn't know the assembly. Mostly he was looking for funding and a base of operations for his movement toward the west. Thus many consider Romans as Paul's way of introducing himself to Christians in Rome. He has to tell them something about who he is and what he believes. He doesn't know what they've heard about him through the grapevine from his friends and enemies. That suggests Romans might be Paul's last writing before his imprisonment. It's as close as we have to a systematic presentation of his theology. He presented and defended some of his ideas with the hopes of persuading Christians in Rome to support him. He doesn't even acknowledge any church leadership. Had Peter really been the first leader of the Roman church, one would think Paul would have known about it.

In Rom 1:16, Paul says his gospel is "the power of God for salvation to everyone who believes, to the Jew first and also to the Greek." The key is belief, but what does he mean by salvation? To Israel it meant protection from, and victory over, their enemies. He answers that in verse 18, "For the wrath of God is revealed from heaven against all ungodliness and unrighteousness of men...." Now, what does he mean by [un]righteousness? Hold that thought.

In Rom 1:23, Paul is clearly talking about polytheists. For many reasons, it seems to me that the earliest Christians began as (and probably still were) polytheists. Most of the people Paul addresses in his assemblies were (and probably still are) polytheists. For Paul, if you're a polytheist, you're not righteous. If you're a polytheist, you don't believe that Jesus was the universal sacrifice because you don't believe in the god that Jesus represents. In Paul's view, any sacrifice you make (or don't make) is unacceptable. Therefore you're not even in contention for an apocalyptic judgment based on works. You're already disqualified.

Salvation

What DOES Paul mean by **salvation**? As noted above, Paul hints at that in verse 18. It means at least avoiding wrath of God. From his comments, it meant the aspect of his apocalyptic worldview that good people (people who behaved according to common morality) would be on the good side of the apocalypse that Paul and his peers expected within a generation or two on earth. As noted above, polytheists need not apply. But is there enough in Paul's writings to suggest he held the modern Christian view of an afterlife with a **Heaven** and a **Hell**, places of eternal bliss or torture? Try to approach this student exercise without prejudice. Author Steve Gregg explained one key issue of this philosophical concept. "If we can be happily partying upstairs while our neighbors are being tortured in the basement, then we know nothing of love as Jesus taught us to love." (quoted in a January 18, 2023 Medium article by Dan Foster)

Now back to what Paul means by righteous. Now that he has said that all polytheists are unrighteous, he tells us what he means by unrighteous for the rest of the chapter. It's violation of **common morality**. He thought homosexuality belonged in that list.

Common Morality

Common morality is the Jiminy Cricket philosophy. Let your conscience be your guide. Humans are born with a small propensity for empathy. Infants have an innate tendency to be unhappy when witnessing suffering of another. All the rest is culturally trained. I think a behavior is immoral if my culture thinks it's immoral. In each pack of animals, **morality** arose when they collectively figured out that if they agree not to wantonly murder one another, and enforce that, then they can cooperate on hunts, and otherwise use division of labor for the benefit of all. They are all better off. **Law** is codified morality.

Rom 1:32 sneaks in a principle of moral society and rule of law. "Though they know God's righteous decree that those who practice such things deserve to die, they not only do them but give approval to those who practice them." A more modern expression of the idea is attributed to Edmund Burke, "All that is necessary for the triumph of evil is that good men do nothing."

Look again at that list. There's nothing uniquely Jewish or Christian about it. It's common morality. Paul doesn't refer to Torah to justify the list. He doesn't even say what he thinks makes people 'haters of God'. The list is simply bad behavior. Paul seems to reject Torah as his moral standard, yet offers no replacement beyond common morality. Had he read the preamble to the US Constitution, Paul might have said, "I hold these truths [moral standards] to be self-evident."

So, what happens if you violate common morality? Rom 2 explains that. You condemn yourself. You will incur judgment. You are "storing up wrath for yourself on the day of wrath when God's righteous judgment will be revealed." You are choosing your destiny under the apocalyptic worldview. From 2:6-11,

He will render to each one according to his works: to those who by patience in well-doing seek for glory and honor and immortality, he will give eternal life; but for those who are self-seeking and do not obey the truth, but obey unrighteousness, there will be wrath and fury. There will be tribulation and distress for every human being who does evil, the Jew first and also the Greek, but glory and honor and peace for everyone who does good, the Jew first and also the Greek. For God shows no partiality.

This is NOT the Jewish covenantal worldview! That was corporate (all Israel). This is personal, individual. You don't begin to see that idea in Tanakh until Ezekiel 18 and Jeremiah 31. Those texts overturned the earlier idea expressed in Exodus 34:7, "visiting the iniquity of the fathers on the children and the children's children, to the third and the fourth generation." That doesn't replace the Covenantal Worldview. It just ends their idea that God punishes you for the sins of your ancestors. You start life with a clean slate. It's judgment according to works. There's nothing here about Jewish distinctives (kosher, Sabbath) or even sacrifices (universal). This is about morality, not religion!

Paul seems to be saying here that God is an enforcer of common morality. Or if not an enforcer, at least a rewarder or punisher. This is about behavior, not belief.

In 2:12, Paul declares the destiny of those who sinned, whether or not they were Jews. By what authority does he say this? He doesn't say. This is his own philosophy.

He continues by saying that every human who does evil will be punished (with or without the 'law', whatever he means by that). Here, he seems to use law to refer to Torah for Jews. But then in verse 14, some Gentiles can do by nature what the law requires. But if you're not obeying kosher, Sabbath etc., you're not doing what Torah requires. Gentiles don't do kosher or Sabbath by nature. Paul would know that if he really were Pharisee! 2:15 he mentions conscience. Effectively that's saying that any Gentile knows when he's doing wrong because his conscience is bothering him. That's the morality of Jiminy Cricket. 2:25-29 is not Jewish thought! Torah was corporate, not individual. If a person violates Torah, they are still a Jew.

Rom 3 Paul takes texts from Psalms out of context. They are speaking of the fool (Ps 14/53) or of evil men (Ps 140).

Rom 3:19-20 is important to Paul, but seems inconsistent with what he says elsewhere. He definitely misrepresents Law (Torah). Yes, Torah applies to Jews. No, the whole world is not accountable to it. Israel kept their end of the covenant by obeying Torah. It was not impossible. Perfection was not required. Paul is inventing new doctrine, not explaining old.

In the famous Romans 3:23, Paul says that all have sinned. This is a claim Paul makes but doesn't support. Since it's a letter, there's no one around to challenge or refute him. Even Jews didn't hold that doctrine, and certainly not Gentiles. Paul makes no case for why a Gentile would even be accountable to the God of Israel, who never made any demands of Gentiles beyond not hurting Israel. Does Paul make this claim in any of his earlier writings? Or is it an attempt to say that even the Roman audience needs the universal sacrifice?

5:12 death spread to all men because all sinned, NOT because Adam sinned!

Rom 6 explains Paul's view that it's baptism that transfers a person from the dominion of darkness to

Paul, by Frank Nemec, page 12

the dominion of light. His idea that baptism is essential is conveyed in the later addition to Mark in 16:16, "Whoever believes **and is baptized** will be saved, but whoever does not believe will be condemned." A person then is no longer a slave to sin. They can now choose not to sin. Paul's idea of slave to sin appears in John 8:34.

So far, we have three key ideas from Paul. Everyone sinned. The only way to avoid judgment for your sin is faith in Christ. After baptism, you have the ability to choose not to sin.

Had Paul really been a Pharisee, as he claimed, then 'law' would have meant Torah, no more, no less. But that doesn't fit with his usage of the word in his writings. He also muddles usage of 'sin', sometimes with a Jewish meaning (a specific act violating Torah), sometimes with a Greek meaning (a cosmic force). That's one reason it's so hard to understand Paul.

In the famous Romans 6:23, "the wages of sin is death," Paul provides no support for this claim. That wasn't an idea of Judaism. Perhaps Paul misinterprets or misrepresents Ezekiel 18 and Jeremiah 31. Their point was that God punishes you for your sins, not for those of your ancestors. But death was never the only punishment specified in Torah.

The primary task for understanding Romans 7 is knowing, in each usage, what Paul means by law or sin.

In Romans 8:3, Paul says, "... sending his own Son in the likeness of sinful flesh and for sin." Is that the language Paul would use if he thought Jesus was an actual human on Earth? He uses similar language in Philippians 2:7. Or it represented a Docetic view that Jesus was a god, only appearing as a human. Marcionites held this view. Rom 8 says that the (only?) thing that changed is that a Christian is no longer condemned for sin. So, if I won't be punished for my sin, why bother to avoid it? Read on.

In Romans 12, Paul is making an analogy. He would in no way suggest that Christians offer sacrifices in any form. He echoes Gnostic ideas he introduced in 2 Corinthians 4.

Deutero-Pauline Epistles

I include these texts here, even though they are not likely written by Paul. It's informative to compare them to Paul. And I'd rather not create yet another document.

Ephesians

Since Paul was so closely associated with the church at Ephesus, why so impersonal, abstract, and lacking personal notes? Also, some early manuscripts contain a blank where the name Ephesians should be. Some scholars plausibly conclude that this was likely a circular letter, to be read in several churches of the region. There are also so many differences in style, vocabulary, and theological positions that many scholars conclude this was unlikely written by Paul himself, but more likely by his followers after his death.

Colossians

This also seems to be written to a group of churches in this region. The prison epistles share a common tone: more calm, more detached, more reflective, less embattled. There is little concern shown for Paul's authority, which seems to be well-established by this time. They are more concerned with moral qualities than practical events. Arguments are based not on Torah but on shared liturgical traditions, mainly baptism. (Johnson, lecture 10)

- 1:13 The author mixes his metaphors. The domain of darkness was a cosmic force. But the kingdom was a morphed idea from the Jewish kingdom of God to the Christian kingdom of God (still an apocalyptic worldview) to whatever this author means.
- 1:14 This author thinks Christians have redemption, the forgiveness of sins. Paul seemed to think this is something Christians would eventually receive. Rom 6:5
- 11:15 Johannine / Gnostic ideas
- 1:15-20 This could be the recitation of a creed. It's a collection of ideas from various sources. An early attempt at systematic theology, a proto-orthodox Christology
- 1:19 pleroma
- 1:23 may be the idea that you can leave Christianity.

2 Thessalonians

Pastoral Epistles

Titus

2 Timothy

1 Timothy

Residue

The next logical class after this might be the remaining epistles, finishing with Hebrews, Jude, and Revelation. It might be called New Testament Odds and Ends, such as the pseudepigrapha. Perhaps we might eventually look at the deuterocanonical books of the Catholic Bible (Tobit, Judith, 1 Maccabees and 2 Maccabees, Wisdom, Sirach, Baruch, and additions to Esther and Daniel). Perhaps the biblical apocrypha, variously considered canonical by various Christians.

References

I strongly encourage listening to these three courses (references 1-3) for an overview of scholarly thought on the subject from different perspectives. They can sometimes be found in libraries.

Paul, by Frank Nemec, page 14

- 1. <u>The New Testament</u>, Teaching Company course 656, Professor Bart D. Ehrman, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, 2000.
- 2. <u>The Apostle Paul</u>, Teaching Company course 657, Professor Luke Timothy Johnson, Emory University, 2001.
- 3. <u>Paul and Jesus: The Great Divide; Did Paul and Jesus Have the Same Religion?</u> Available from bartehrman.com
- 4. <u>Paul and Jesus: How the Apostle Transformed Christianity</u>, by James D. Tabor. I haven't read this but the reviews look promising.
- 5. Carrier, Richard. <u>Jesus from Outer Space: What the Earliest Christians Really Believed about Christ.</u> Durham, NC: Pitchstone Publishing, 2020.
- 6. Pagels, Elaine. <u>The Gnostic Paul: Gnostic Exegesis of the Pauline Letters</u>. Harrisburg, PA: Trinity Press International, 1975.